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October 29, 2020 

 

 

SUBJECT:  Letter of Clarification No. 4 

   Disaster Recovery & Consulting Services  

 

REFERENCE:  RFP No.: S83-T29617 

 

TO:   All Prospective Respondents 

 

 

This Letter of Clarification is issued for the following reasons: 

 
1. To provide prospective respondents with a response to received questions: 

 

  Scope of Service Questions - S83-T29617 
 

1 Question If a company is prohibited from providing or subcontracting legal services under the Texas 

Government Code and Texas Disciplinary rules of Professional Conduct, and states such as an 

exception to its proposal, would the company be considered non-responsive to the RFP 

solicitation and disqualified from the selection process?  

Broadly stated, non-legal, professional service firms are unable to provide legal services in 

Texas. Under Section 81.102 of the Texas Government Code, only members of the State Bar of 

Texas and other persons who comply with the Texas Supreme Court's rules may practice law 

in Texas (as the “practice of law” is defined in Section 81.101 of the Texas Government 

Code). It is our understanding subcontracting such legal work does not avoid this statutory 

prohibition.  Moreover, any attempt to subcontract the provision of legal services would 

additionally fall afoul of Rule 5.04 of the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, 

which prohibits the sharing of legal fees with a non-lawyer.  (See also, Texas Center for Legal 

Ethics Opinion Nos. 493 and 498).  And even ignoring such statutory and regulatory 

prohibitions on the provision of legal services, the Texas Disciplinary Rules would so 

constrain the prime firm’s ability to manage a subcontractor law firm as to preclude the firm’s 

role as a prime consultant.  (See Rule 5.04(c), “A lawyer shall not permit a person who 

recommends, employs, or pays the lawyer to render legal services for another to direct or 

regulate the lawyer’s professional judgment in rendering such legal services.”).  In addition 

to Texas Government Code and Texas Disciplinary rules of Professional Conduct limitations, 

non-legal professional firm insurance policies do not cover the provision of legal services, 

thus making it unfeasible to comply with Section 3.12 of the City’s proposed contract. Other 

https://purchasing.houstontx.gov/


Council Members:     Amy Peck    Jerry Davis    Abbie Kamin    Carolyn Evans-Shabazz    Dave Martin    Tiffany D. Thomas   Greg Travis     Karla Cisneros    

  Robert Gallegos    Edward Pollard    Martha Castex-Tatum   Mike Knox     David W. Robinson   Michael Kubosh     Letitia Plummer       

  Sallie Alcorn 

 

Controller:   Chris Brown    

 

provisions of the City’s proposed contract are also inapplicable to the provision of legal 

services.  For example, the request that work be performed “in a good and workmanlike 

manner” (Section 3.13) is applicable to the provision of contracting/construction services; it 

is not applicable to, and cannot be met by the provision of legal (or other 

professional/consulting) services.   

 

 Response Yes.  

 

2 Question Would the City consider adjusting the solicitation due date to two weeks after the City 

provides written responses to all proposer clarification questions?  

 

 Response The City is revising the due date to November 19, 2020. 

 

3 Question Would the City consider revising the number of copies per designated disaster area to one 

bound original and an electronic PDF file copied to 8 thumb drives?   

For example, if a company responds to all eight areas, the delivery requirements as written 

total 72 bound copies. In the event 10 to 15 companies respond to all eight areas, the City 

could receive 720 to 1,080 bound copies to process. 

 

 Response No. 
 

4 Question The PA and HMGP services are requested under the same scope of work even though there 

are only two sections in the scope of work that pertain specifically to HMGP.  Would the City 

consider providing separate scope of work sections for PA and HMGP?  Alternatively, would 

the City confirm that the PA proposal does not need to address the HMGP services and vice 

versa?   

a) 10-13-2020 RFP, Pages 11-12 of 58 – Section l).  These scope items for HMGP only, 

not PA.   

b) 10-13-2020 RFP, Page 8 of 50 – Section e).  This scope item is for HMGP only, not 

PA. 

 

 Response The City will not consider a separate scope of work section specifically for HMGP. 

Public Assistance services may include activities related to HMA (HMGP, FMA, BRIC) 

and HMP, if requested. Proposers may briefly describe their HMA experience as a 

subsection within the PA proposal.  
 

5 Question Section 2.3 indicates a maximum of 5-7 pages for the Plan of Action.   

a) Does the 5-7 page count include the matrix? 

b) Does the 5-7 page count include the training plan? 

c) Is Section 2.3.b referring to a different plan than the Plan of Action? 
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 Response Answer to question A – Yes. 

Answer to question B – Yes. 

Answer to question C – No. 
 

6 Question Is having an attorney/law firm to provide the legal services specified in the RFP required of a 

Proposer to win a position in each of the eight categories? 
 

 Response Each proposal must include a proposal to provide legal services. The proposer may propose 

to enter into a subcontractor agreement with an attorney or law firm to perform the legal 

services portion of the Scope of Work. 
 

7 Question Is the Proposer required to team with an independent attorney/law firm to provide the legal 

services specified in the RFP?   
 

 Response The proposer may propose to enter into a subcontractor agreement with an attorney or law 

firm to perform the legal services portion of the Scope of Work. 

 

8 Question In order to ensure that this procurement maximizes open competition, would the City consider 

making the legal services a separate procurement? 
 

 Response Legal services are a requirement of this RFP. 
 

9 Question As the new language added to the submission requirements (Sections 2.15 – 2.20) is specific 

to only the legal services, is it correct to assume that the legal requirements will be a separate 

section within each of the eight (8) proposals?  
 

 Response Yes. 
 

10 Question Section 2.0, Scope of Work, Legal Department (page 13 of 58) requirements a, b, and c, are 

services already routinely performed in the support of decisions related to appeals in the 

Public Assistance program and other matters, but these services do not require a licensed 

attorney. Could the City explain why those services must be provided by a separate law firm?  
 

 Response The Legal Department portion of Part II (Scope of Work/Technical Specifications), 

Section 2.0, subsections (a), (b), and (c) contains services that require the practice of law 

and thus, must be performed by an attorney. Specifically, Section 2.0(a) requires an 

attorney to assist the Office of the City Attorney to review contract and procurement 

documents and provide legal advice regarding such documents regarding compliance 

with requirements, including federal law or regulation, of federal grant programs. 

Section 2.0(b) requires an attorney to interpret the law and advise the City on its 

contracts, procurements, practices, and policies. Section 2.0(c) requires an attorney to 

develop documents, including memos, for the City’s use in drafting or reviewing its 

contracts or procurement documents, which necessarily involves interpreting the law 

and giving legal advice as to legal sufficiency of such documents in compliance with 

applicable federal grant requirements, including federal law or regulation.  
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11 Question Appearing before the Civilian Board of Contractor Appeals does not require attorney 

representation. While an attorney can represent a subrecipient, there is nothing about such 

representation the requires a licensed attorney.  

 

What is the basis for the City’s decision to seek a law firm to provide these services? 
 

 Response The City will request legal services on an as-needed basis. 

 

12 Question The RFP states that the attorney/law firm would be part of the Proposer’s team.  If the City 

expects a third party to procure legal services on behalf of the City, is it expected that the 

attorney/law firm will only have a direct contractual relationship with the Proposer, but not 

with the City?   
 

 Response The Proposer may propose to enter into a subcontractor agreement with an attorney or 

law firm to perform the legal services portion of the Scope of Work. The City does not 

intend to enter into a contract with an attorney or law firm to perform legal services 

under this RFP if such attorney or law firm will be a subcontractor of the Proposer. 
 

13 Question If the City expects that the attorney/law firm will only have a direct contractual relationship 

with the Proposer, and the Proposer is the client, does the City agree that the attorney/law firm 

only has a confidential relationship with the Proposer, and not the City?  

 

 Response No. 
 

14 Question If the attorney/law firm will only have a direct contractual relationship with the Proposer, how 

does the City expect the attorney/law firm to maintain the attorney-client privilege, including 

if a third party will be responsible to review and pay corresponding invoices?  
 

 Response The Proposer and its attorney/law firm subcontractor shall comply with the Texas 

Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct regarding attorney-client privilege, as 

applicable. 
 

15 Question If the City expects to have a contractual relationship with the attorney/law firm, does the City 

expect the attorney/law firm to draft a subcontract or agreement with a Proposer where it is 

merely a pass-through entity or procurement agent for the City, which does not create attorney 

client privilege or confidentiality protections for the Proposer, but for the City only? 
 

 Response The City does not intend to enter into a contract with an attorney/law firm to perform 

legal services under this RFP if such attorney or law firm will be a subcontractor of the 

Proposer. 

 

16 Question Assuming a contract between the Proposer and the attorney/law firm to provide legal services 

under this RFP is permitted in Texas, will the City consider entering into a common legal 

interest agreement with the successful bidder that addresses any potential conflicts for joint 

representation and includes specific attorney/law firm waivers of conflicts by the parties?    
 

 Response Based on the City’s receipt of sufficient information from the Proposer, the City will 

assess any potential or actual conflict of interest and act appropriately. 
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17 Question Assuming a contract between the Proposer and the attorney/law firm to provide services under 

this RFP is permitted under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, how would 

the City expect the parties to handle any ethical and conflict issues that arise by having a third 

party procure legal services on behalf of the City? 
 

 Response Based on the City’s receipt of sufficient information from the Proposer, the City will 

assess any potential or actual conflict of interest and act appropriately. 
 

18 Question Would a contract between the Proposer and the attorney/law firm to provide legal services 

under this RFP to the City risk the Proposer being construed as practicing law without a 

license? 

The Proposer and its attorney/law firm subcontractor shall comply with the Texas 

Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, as applicable. 

 
 Response The Proposer and its attorney/law firm subcontractor shall comply with the Texas 

Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, as applicable. 
 

19 Question For designated areas 1.5, Legacy Disasters: FEMA-PA and 1.6, Legacy Disasters, FEMA-

HMGP, what is the represented workload for which the selected consultant would be 

responsible for projects in formulation and awarded/obligated for each legacy disaster 

identified in the RFP? 

 
 Response The legacy work is primarily expected to be for Hurricane Harvey Recovery as we have 

completed approximately 40% of the work thus far for PA. 
 

20 Question Will the City allow proposers to provide additional labor categories in all eight area of work? 
 

 Response Proposers are allowed to provide labor categories as needed for their proposal. 

 

21 Question In section 2.3 the City requests a “matrix summarizing how each of the requirements will be 

met and the resources that the City must commit to.” As the requirements will greatly differ by 

disaster type and the resources will greatly vary, will the city please provide a matrix that 

defines the requirements that the City would like respondents to address? 
 

 Response No matrix will be provided. 

 

22 Question In section 2.3, the City requests a “matrix summarizing how each of the requirements will be 

met and the resources that the City must commit to.”  Would the City accept two separate 

matrices to address (1) how the requirements will be met and (2) the resources that the City 

must commit to? 
 

 Response Yes. 
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23 Question Section 2.0 Scope of Work, Mobilization and Work Requirements, indicates that the proposer 

shall have a representative on site within 24 hours of a Notice to Proceed (NTP), and will be 

prepared to begin operations within 48 hours of a NTP “for a pending disaster event.”  Please 

confirm that these two requirements are addressing the same NTP (e.g., arrival on-site in 24 

hours and beginning operation in 48 hours).  If they are intended to describe two different 

scenarios, please clarify. 

 

 Response Correct, the NTP is to provide both the staff on-site and to begin operations. 

 

24 Question Section 2.0 Scope of Work, Mobilization and Work Requirements, indicates that “Prior to 

commencing the services, the Director or his or her designee, will issue a task order describing 

the services and deliverables required.”  Please clarify the relationship between the Task Order 

and the Notice to Proceed.  Will the NTP precede the Task Order? 

 

 Response In this case, the pool of selected firms will be approved via City Council Action. 

 

A Task Order will be issued to commence the mobilization and work requirements. 

 

25 Question Would the City consider revising the scope of work so that legal services are a separately 

designated area (e.g. 1.9 Legacy Disasters: Legal Services, 1.10 Future Disasters: Legal 

Services)? This would allow the City to access support directly while allowing vendors who 

provide disaster recovery support to provide superior services within their designated area.  
 

 Response Legal services will not be separately designated but may be subcontracted. 
 

26 Question Will the City please provide a copy of Attachment B related to Engagement of Outside 

Counsel? It is referenced but not provided. 
 

 Response Attachment B is the OFFICE OF BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY AND CONTRACT 

COMPLIANCE MWBE UTILIZATION REPORT - NOTICE OF INTENT.  Page 39 of 

the RFP.  

 

27 Question Section 3.01.4 states that "...Consultant acknowledges that the City shall only pay for costs 

that are eligible for federal reimbursement..." However, eligibility is discretionary, uncertain, 

and often variable across disaster declarations, FEMA administrations, and other factors 

beyond the Consultant and City's control. Some considerations and examples include: 

 

1.     FEMA policy states that for costs to be eligible they must be, "...Consistent 

with the Applicant’s internal policies, regulations, and procedures that apply 

uniformly to both Federal awards and other activities of the Applicant...". 

FEMA has previously indicated that such Federal reimbursement pay 

contingencies may not comply with this requirement. 

2.     Some tasks requested and / or required by the City may not be eligible for 

FEMA funding. For example, area 1.2 - Future Disasters FEMA HMGP, HMGP 

LOI and application development are not reimbursable by FEMA but required to 

complete the program. 

3.     This would limit the scope of the consultant to activities that are guaranteed 

to be reimbursable by FEMA/HUD, such a guarantee does not exist. Since the PA 

program is discretionary, and the City would presumably intend to utilize 
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the consultant to advocate for eligibility and increased reimbursement, this 

provision would limit or even prohibit such activities to the potential detriment of 

the City. 

4.     FEMA Determination Memos (DM) and Appeals, both first and second, are 

sometimes necessary. The City would presumably use the Consultant, and the 

requested Legal Services, to draft Appeal responses. If the DM or Appeal is 

ultimately determined ineligible, so is the fee associated with developing the 

response. This provision would limit the ability of the consultant to support the 

City in DMs and Appeals thereby decreasing the City's probability at a 

beneficial outcome. 

5.     The consultant has no visibility as to how much FEMA 324 Management 

 Costs and / or HUD management and Administration fees in areas 1.5 -

  Legacy Disasters FEMA PA and 1.7 - Legacy Disasters CDBG-

 DR funding may be available or how much has been utilized by the City of 

 Houston to date,  

6.     Houston may, as previous clients have, request critical recovery support 

 services ineligible for FEMA reimbursement. 

7.     This would prohibit the Consultant from working on necessary recovery tasks 

 not reimbursed by federal funding including insurance, state match 

 programs, etc. 

8.     Final eligibility of Section 324 Management Costs is at the sole discretion of 

 FEMA and subject to change throughout the duration of this contract, as it 

 did significantly in the 2018 Disaster Recovery Reform Act (DRRA). 

 

As such, would the City consider revising Section 3.01.4 to read  "...Consultant will 

support the City in good faith to request federal reimbursement for all Consultant costs 

and shall identify when such costs may not be eligible for federal reimbursement...."? 
 

 Response The City expects the Proposer to seek all applicable Federal requirements per the 

applicable programs and disaster declaration. 

 

28 Question Please confirm that proposers are required to complete the Exhibit VIII Proposal Cost-fee 

Form table (page 54) and provide a chart listing each billing team member with address, title, 

years of experience, and hourly rates (page 55). 

 

 Response Correct. 

 

29 Question Are proposers required to use the positions provided in Exhibit VIII – Addendum (pages 55-

56) when completing the Proposal Cost-fee Form? 

 

 Response Proposers are required to use positions as needed for their proposals.  The positions 

listed in Exhibit VIII is not an exhaustive list.  

 

30 Question Can proposers offer additional positions not defined in Exhibit VIII – Addendum (pages 55-

56) to populate the Exhibit VIII Proposal Cost-fee Form table? 
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 Response Yes.  Proposers are required to use positions as needed for their proposal.  The positions 

listed in Exhibit VIII is not an exhaustive list.  

 

31 Question The City references GSA rates in the Exhibit VIII – Addendum, can the City please provide 

the specific source(s)/contract(s) for the cost fee ranges provided? 
 

 Response GSA rates were obtained from the Acquisition Gateway.  Please reference 

https://hallways.cap.gsa.gov/app/#/h 

 

32 Question For consistency within the Exhibit VIII Addendum, will the City provide suggested fee ranges 

for 11+ years of experience for E. Accounting Specialist and F. Disaster Recovery Specialist? 

 

 Response GSA rates per the Acquisition Gateway. 

 

33 Question Please confirm the rates associated with 11+ Years of experience for the C. Engineer and D. 

Senior Engineer position as illustrated in the table below: 

 

Years of Experience Engineer Senior Engineer 

11+ Years $0 to $217 $0 to $214 

 

 

 Response Confirmed. 

 

34 Question Requesting that the City revise the unit price range for Senior Engineer 6-10 years of 

experience, currently noted as $0 to $1/hr in the Exhibit VIII Addendum. 

 

 Response The range for a Senior Engineer with 6-10 years of experience revised is to $0-$190 

 

35 Question Attachment 1 item 2.18.2 on page 26 of the RFP revised 10.13.2020 states that rates should be 

effective through June 1, 2023, while the Exhibit VIII Addendum (page 55) states that rates 

must be effective through the contract term. Please confirm which date governs. 

 

 Response Rates must be effective through the contract term. 

 

36 Question Are standard non-labor expenses (such as travel) billable to the City of Houston under this 

contract? 

 

 Response The billing rate should be all inclusive. 

 

37 Question Please confirm that any alternative approaches to billing (requested in Exhibit VIII Addendum 

on page 55) should be included in addition to (not instead of) the Proposal Cost-fee Form 

(page 54) and Staffing chart (page 55). 

 

https://hallways.cap.gsa.gov/app/#/h
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 Response Yes. 

 

38 Question The first paragraph on page 7 of the RFP revised 10.13.2020 includes “planning activities and 

services” in relation to CDBG-DR and CDBG-MIT, while Q&A (Response 10, Response 36, 

Response 68) states that planning services are removed from the solicitation. Please confirm if 

planning services are a part of the project scope for Legacy and Future CDBG-DR and Legacy 

and Future CDBG-MIT. 

 

 Response Planning activities are requested for CDBG-DR and Legacy and Future CDBG-MIT. 

 

39 Question In relation to Letter of Clarification No. 1 Responses 21 and 22, is proposer involvement in 

Legacy CDBG-DR and Legacy CDBG-MIT work limited to public infrastructure projects? 
 

 Response Yes, at this time. 

 

40 Question The current procurement timeline allocates 10 business days between the vendor Q&A 

deadline and submittal date. The City responded to original Q&A 8 business days after the 

vendor Q&A deadline. If the City responds to new Q&A on a similar timeline (6-8 days post-

Q&A deadline), bidders would only have 2-4 business days to incorporate changes before the 

proposal due date.  

 

We are requesting that the City extend the proposal deadline to November 20 to allow 

proposers ample time to respond to a proposal of this magnitude and complexity. 
 

 Response The City is revising the due date to November 19, 2020. 

 

41 Question Please confirm that the City expects to receive a 20-section proposal with the following table 

of contents as outlined in Part IV Submission of Proposal, section 2.0 Submission 

Requirements: 

 

# Proposal Section 

1 Cover Letter 

2 Executive Summary 

3 Proposed Plan of Action 

4 Qualifications of the Proposer 

5 Qualifications of Key Personnel 

6 M/WBE Participation 

7 Financial Stability 

8 Exceptions to Standard Contract 

9 Legal Actions 

10 Conflict of Interest 

11 Other 

12 Forms and Certifications 

13 Proposal Cost Fee Form 

14 Legal Services 

15 Firm’s Qualifications and Experience 

16 Benefits and Value-add Services 

17 Insurance 

18 Staffing 
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19 Representative Clients and Matters 

20 Ethics 

 

 

 Response Yes. 

 

42 Question If the required table of contents does not align with Part IV Submission of Proposal, section 

2.0 Submission Requirements, should proposers organize their proposals to align exactly with 

the order in Exhibit IX Proposal Checklist? 
 

 Response No.  Exhibit IX Proposal Checklist is just for reference to ensure that proposals are 

submitted correctly, and all required documents are included.  

 

43 Question Please clarify the intended meaning of “Submission Requirements for Houston Public Works 

& Houston Parks and Recreation Department” on page 23. Are requirements 2.1 through 2.13 

only applicable to the scope of work for HPW defined on pages 9-12 and the scope of work 

for HPRD defined on pages 12-13? 

 

 Response The Houston Parks and Recreation Department’s requirements are in addition to the 

scope of work for the RFP, pages 7-9 and 14-16.  Houston Public Works’ cope is defined 

on pages 9-12, plus pages 7-9 and 14-16.  

 

44 Question The response requirements in Part IV Submission of Proposal, section 2.0 Submission 

Requirements only address HPW, HPRD, and Legal as currently written. Please clarify where 

proposers should address the remainder of the scope of work, specifically services requested 

by the Finance Department detailed on pages 7-9 (General Program Management, Public 

Grant Administration, Mobilization and Work Requirements, etc) and pages 14-16 (Types of 

Deliverables, Project Worksheets, etc). 
 

 Response Proposals should include the requirements outlined in 2.0 SCOPE OF WORK (pages 7 – 

9) with every submitted proposal.  In addition, Deliverables (pages 14 – 16) should also 

be included in each submitted proposal. 

 

45 Question Will the City confirm page limits for each section? 

 

# Proposal Section Page Limit 

1 Cover Letter None 

2 Executive Summary None 

3 Proposed Plan of Action 5-7 pages (excluding 
summary matrix) 

4 Qualifications of the Proposer None 

5 Qualifications of Key Personnel None 

6 M/WBE Participation None 

7 Financial Stability None 

8 Exceptions to Standard Contract None 

9 Legal Actions None 

10 Conflict of Interest None 

11 Other None 

12 Forms and Certifications None 
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13 Proposal Cost Fee Form None 

14 Legal Services None 

15 Firm’s Qualifications and Experience None 

16 Benefits, Value-add Services None 

17 Insurance None 

18 Staffing None 

19 Representative Clients and Matters None 

20 Ethics None 

 

 

 Response Confirmed. 

 

46 Question Please clarify if the summary matrix in 2.3 Proposed Plan of Action counts toward the 5-7 

page maximum. 
 

 Response Correct. 

 

47 Question For the purposes of proposal section 2.3 Proposed Plan of Action, if a sheet of paper is printed 

with text on both sides, would it be counted against the total page count for that section as 1 

page or 2 pages? 
 

 Response One (1) page.  

  

48 Question In reference to response requirement 2.19.5 on page 26, are proposers required to provide an 

Exhibit 1-B for legal services and an Exhibit 1-B for overall services? 
 

 Response Provide references for overall services on Exhibit 1-B. 

 

49 Question Does the City expect separate proposals for the items addressed in Letter of Clarification No. 

1 Response 52 (FHWA-ER) and Response 105 (Legacy CRF)? 

 

 Response The applicable categories are listed as: 

 

1.1 Future Disasters: FEMA-PA 

1.2 Future Disasters: FEMA-HMGP 

1.3 Future Disasters: CDBG-DR 

1.4 Future Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

1.5 Legacy Disasters: FEMA-PA 

1.6 Legacy Disasters: FEMA-HMGP 

1.7 Legacy Disasters: CDBG-DR 

1.8 Legacy Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

 

 

50 Question Will proposals for FHWA-ER and CRF be required to follow the submittal requirements 

outlined in the RFP, therefore leading to 11 submittals as illustrated below? 

 

o Future Disasters: FEMA PA 

o Future Disasters: FEMA HMGP 
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o Future Disasters: CDBG-DR 

o Future Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

o Future Disasters: FHWA-ER 

o Legacy Disasters: FEMA PA 

o Legacy Disasters: FEMA HMGP 

o Legacy Disasters: CDBG-DR 

o Legacy Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

o Legacy Disasters: FHWA-ER 

o Legacy Disasters: CRF 

 

 Response The applicable categories are listed as: 

 

1.1 Future Disasters: FEMA-PA 

1.2 Future Disasters: FEMA-HMGP 

1.3 Future Disasters: CDBG-DR 

1.4 Future Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

1.5 Legacy Disasters: FEMA-PA 

1.6 Legacy Disasters: FEMA-HMGP 

1.7 Legacy Disasters: CDBG-DR 

1.8 Legacy Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

 

51 Question The maximum page limitations in Part IV Section 2 - Submission of Proposal issued with the 

original RFP have all been removed in the revised version of the RFP issued on October 13, 

2020.  Please clarify that there are now no maximum page limitations for the submission 

requirements under Section 2. 
 

 Response Page 23, Section 2.3 Proposed Plan of Action reflects a maximum of 5-7-page limit. 

 

52 Question Part IV Submission of Proposal Section 2.7 - Financial Stability.  If a firm is a privately 

owned entity for which audited financial statements are not required, may Proposer submit the 

required documents listed in revised Part IV Submission of Proposal Section 2.7 

(issued October 13, 2020) in a separate envelope marked 'Confidential' and will the City of 

Houston agree to treat these documents as 'Confidential'? 
 

 Response Yes. Indicate and mark all document that are submitted in proposals as “Confidential” 

or “Proprietary” information.   

 

53 Question We are already a preferred Vendor for the City of Houston.  Does the preferred vendors ever 

expire?  Do we need to put back in or do anything if we are expired or need to update 

information? 

 

 Response The City does not have a preferred vendor list.  Please contact the City of Houston 

Business Opportunity for Hire Houston First status. 
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54 Question Would the City of Houston accept letter of credit and waive the audited financial statement 

requirement? 

 

 Response No. 

 

55 Question In section 2.0 “Submission Requirements” at page 20 where original section 2.1 is replaced, 

does the requirement still stand as clarified in the first round of Q&A to create a proposal for 

each service area, subsections 1.1 to 1.8? 

 

a) If yes, does the city still want 8 total submissions if a firm has expertise in all 4 areas? 

Which again is 8 submissions, one original of all 8, 8 copies for each submission and 

cost proposal separately? 

b) If yes, would the city consider combining future and legacy work for a total of 4 

submissions? For example, one submission for future and legacy disasters for FEMA 

Public Assistance as rates, staff, and approach should not change regardless if it is a 

previous disaster or on call/future.  

c) If no, would the city consider combining CDBG-MIT for legacy and future as this is a 

new program and the city has not submitted grants under it? 
 

 Response Answer to question A – No. 

Answer to question B – No.  

Answer to question C – No.  

 

56 Question For the cost fee in Part IV, is it one original and 8 copies of each cost proposal or just eight 

copies of the cost proposal labeled as “COST FEE”? 
 

 Response Submit one (1) original and eight (8) copies of the Cost Fee. 

 

57 Question Does the city require electronic copies of the cost proposal as well? 
 

 Response No. 

 

58 Question For the added Addendum, Exhibit VIII this staffing chart would be in the cost proposal only 

correct?  If so, can this be an added page to the cost proposal following the City’s form? 
 

 Response Proposers are expected to provide all staffing for each proposal.   

 

59 Question Regarding the background added for CDBG-DR and MIT does the City envision that the 

proposed consultant would handle housing and infrastructure projects?   
 

 Response This RFP is inclusive of infrastructure projects.  

 

60 Question The work described for CDBG-DR is for legacy work.  Is the City intended to preposition a 

contractor for future disasters for CDBG-DR housing even though an action plan for those 

disasters is not set?   
 

 Response This RFP will cover future funding through CDBG-DR if applicable to infrastructure 

projects.  

 



Council Members:     Amy Peck    Jerry Davis    Abbie Kamin    Carolyn Evans-Shabazz    Dave Martin    Tiffany D. Thomas   Greg Travis     Karla Cisneros    

  Robert Gallegos    Edward Pollard    Martha Castex-Tatum   Mike Knox     David W. Robinson   Michael Kubosh     Letitia Plummer       

  Sallie Alcorn 

 

Controller:   Chris Brown    

 

 

61 Question Exhibit IX lists “Training” as Item 13 on page 58 instead of Proposed Plan of Action.  Yet in 

submission requirements on page 23, Section 2.3 is “Proposed Plan of Action” and Training is 

a subsection.  Does the City want training handled separately with a separate tab or part of the 

Proposed plan of action as shown in 2.3? 
 

 Response Training should be included in the proposed plan of action as shown in Section 2.3.   

 

62 Question Is the submission to the legal department an additional service area or to be addressed in each 

proposal that a company is submitting? For example, if applicable would a company include 

legal services as a tab for each submission, assuming all 8 areas? 
 

 Response Each proposal must address the legal services portions of the RFP. 

 

63 Question For legal services, this is not included in the Exhibit Checklist at Exhibit IX. Where should 

this be included in the submission? 

 

 Response Yes. 

 

64 Question For legal services, 2.19.5 asks for 3 references for Exhibit 1-B.  Is this in addition to Exhibit 1-

B references included for the other service areas?  How would the City like legal service 

references to be handled? 

 

 Response Proposers must provide a separate list of representative clients and matters for legal 

services  in addition to the references for other services required by the RFP.  

 

65 Question Would the City consider making legal services a separate area for firms to respond if 

applicable? 

 

 Response Each proposal must address the legal services portions of the RFP. 

 

66 Question Is the City following 2 CFR 200 procurement particularly with concern to unfair competition 

as only one firm, already under contract with the City, performs legal services for FEMA, is a 

law firm, and is practicing in Texas? 

 

 Response Any Proposer may submit a proposal to directly perform legal services or to enter into a 

subcontractor agreement with a separate law firm to provide legal services. 
 

67 Question For legal services, is the intent to limit legal services for FEMA-reimbursable items only?  

The services and background listed presume general legal services, not related to FEMA. 

 

 Response The City may seek FEMA financial assistance to pay for legal services, in whole or in 

part. 

 

68 Question For legal services, is ethics at Section 2.20 for a prime or the law firm as a sub or both? 
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 Response The Proposer must provide information sufficient for the City to assess any potential or 

actual conflicts of interest in connection with the Proposer, the law firm that the 

Proposer proposes to enter into a subcontractor agreement, or both, as applicable. 

 

69 Question For legal services, is this for legacy or future disasters or both? 

 

 Response Legal services are required for both legacy and future disasters. For the avoidance of 

doubt, each proposal must address the legal services portions of the RFP. 

 

70 Question For legal services, will the City continue to use its contract with their current law firm 

providing these services? 

 

 Response The City will act appropriately, which may include without limitation to perform legal 

services in-house or request outside assistance. 

 

71 Question For legal services, will the City continue to use the team that subs to the incumbent currently 

as the Q&A estimated that the current contract will continue for 16 months? 

 

 Response The City will request legal services on an as-needed basis. 

 

72 Question For legal services, the description of sub part e) on page 14 for attending meetings to provide 

legal services, will this be limited to the federal grant programs as listed? 

 

 Response Yes. 

 

73 Question For legal services, must the clients be limited to clients of a law firm or clients where a 

proposer has provided legal and policy and advice? 

 

 Response The Proposer must provide a list of representative clients and matters of the Proposer if 

the Proposer will provide the legal services.  If the Proposer will enter into a 

subcontractor agreement with a separate attorney/law firm to provide legal services, 

then Proposer must provide a list of representative clients and matters of the law firm. 

 

 

74 Question Does the Cost Fee proposal need to be bound and tabbed like the Technical Proposal? 

 

 Response No. 

 

75 Question Are thumb drives also required for the Cost Fee Proposal? If so, do the Cost Fee Proposals 

need to be placed on separate drives from the Technical Proposals? 

 

 Response No. 
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76 Question Section 2.1 Cover letter requests for the following: Also, the cover letter shall identify the 

members of the team that comprise the Proposer. Indicate the organizational relationship of 

the team members.  

 

When referring to “team members or members of the team” for the purposes of the cover 

letter, should this be interpreted as prime contractor and subcontractor firms rather than 

individuals? 

 

 Response Yes.  All members of the team, including names of subcontracted firms need to be 

provided. 

 

77 Question Section 2.2 Executive Summary requests for the following: The executive summary should 

include a brief overview of the Proposer's understanding of Disaster Recovery and the key 

personnel who will be responsible for the services to be provided. Also, it shall identify the 

members of the team that comprise the Proposer. Indicate the organizational relationship of 

the team members and include an organization chart for the project. 

 

Please further explain the following sentence: "Also, it shall identify the members of the 

team that comprise the Proposer." Do “members of the team” = names of subcontracted 

firms? Or does the City of Houston intend bidders to list each individual team 

member/resource name including associated subcontractor firm names or only the key 

personnel from the organization chart? 

 

 Response Yes. All members of the team, including names of subcontracted firms need to be 

provided. 

 

78 Question Section 2.5 Qualifications of Key Personnel requests for the following: Provide 

chronological resumes of the key personnel that will be assigned to the project. 

 

Should resumes only be provided for key personnel listed in the organization chart or 

can resumes be provided for all team members? 

 

 Response Resumes should include all team members that are identified in the proposal. 

 

79 Question Section 2.18.1 requests for the following: Provide a chart that lists each billing team member, 

the person’s primary office address, job title, number of years of experience, and the person’s 

hourly rates, or basis that the Proposer will use to charge the City for the person’s services. 

 

Should this chart which contains hourly rates be included separately in the Cost Fee Proposal 

and not in the Technical Proposal? 

 

 Response Yes. Include hourly rates on the Cost Fee Proposal.  Hourly rates should not be included 

in the Technical Proposal.   
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80 Question The response to Question 65 of the Letter of Clarification noted documents signed via 

DocuSign are acceptable, with the exception of the Offer & Submittal which must be 

notarized.  

 

Instead of DocuSign, are any other forms of electronic signature acceptable, such as Adobe or 

scanned signature for pages other than the Offer and Submittal? 

 

 Response DocuSign is the only acceptable electronic signature accepted. 

 

81 Question The response to Question 105 of the Letter of Clarification noted "CRF funding will be 

considered a Legacy Disaster going forward."  

 

For purposes of the RFP, can a Proposer propose on CRF funding? If so, does this need to be 

a separate proposal? 

 

 Response CRF Funding is set to expire 12.30.2020. Proposer(s) can include CRF as part of the 

Legacy Disaster and will be considered and included only if there is an extension or 

additional funding from US Department of Treasury. 

 

82 Question Round 1 questions were due September 22, 2020, and answers were provided 10 days later on 

October 2, 2020. 

 

Round 2 questions are due October 15, 2020 and the Solicitation Due Date is just 14 days 

later on October 29, 2020. 

 

Can questions please be answered by Tuesday, 20 October to allow for incorporation into 

final proposals, final signatures, printing and shipping? 

 

 Response The proposal due date has been extended to Thursday, November 19, 2020 to allow 

proposer’s time to review the review responses.   

 

83 Question Exhibit VIII – Addendum “Provide a chart that lists each billing team member, the person’s 

primary office address, job title, number of years of experience and the person’s hourly rates 

that will used to charge the City for the person’s services” 

 

Does the City require every resource for which a resume is provided to be included on this 

chart, or is this intended to be for key personnel, since the actual team make up will depend on 

the work scoped for any subsequent contracts or task orders?  

 

 Response Support information should be given for every team member identified in the proposal. 
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84 Question Exhibit VIII – Addendum – “Proponents should not propose higher rates absent a detailed 

explanation demonstrating that exceptional circumstances exist. The City intends to follow 

General Services Administration approved rates for respective positions under this contract.” 

 

If a proposer is using approved GSA schedule rates from their own GSA schedule is this 

acceptable for meeting the requirement for GSA approved rates? Can the City explain from 

which vendor’s GSA schedule the suggested rates were derived, since there is not a generic 

schedule of GSA rates with these titles to reference? 

 

 Response GSA rates were obtained from the Acquisition Gateway.  Please reference 

https://hallways.cap.gsa.gov/app/#/h 

 

85 Question Letter of Clarification No. 1, Attachment 1 – Section 2.0 Submission Requirements 

(Page 28) AND Revised Solicitation dated 10.13.2020 – Item 2.4 – Please confirm that the 

Seven (7) references requested are to be provided on Exhibit I-B, not in addition to Exhibit I-

B. Please confirm that we can adjust the Exhibit 1B form to include all seven (7) references? 

 

 Response Confirmed. 

 

86 Question Letter of Clarification No. 1, Exhibit VIII – Addendum (Pages 33-34) – There appears to 

be errors in the suggested rates listed for Engineer and Senior Engineer. Please note that the 

Engineer rate is higher than the Senior Engineer rate in the 11+ year category. Also, the rate 

range listed for the Senior Engineer in the 6-10 year category is only $0-$1. (See below) Can 

you please provide updated suggested rates accordingly? 
C: Engineer 

0-5:        $0-$133 

6-10:     $0 - $172 

11+:       $0 - $217 

D: Senior Engineer 

0-5:        $0-$154 

6-10:     $0-$1 

11+:       $0 - $214 
 

 Response For a Senior Engineer with 6-10 years of experience, the rates have been  revised to $0-

$190 

 

87 Question Letter of Clarification No. 1, Question 96 (Pages 19) – In this question, they indicated that 

during the Pre-Bid meeting, it was confirmed the proposals could be submitted as two (2) 

packages (one for Legacy and one for Future), but throughout the Letter of Clarification 

Q&A, it indicates that the City is now requiring individual submittal packages for each of the 

eight (8) designated areas. We believe this has likely caused an unnecessary burden on the 

potential proposers to be able to submit proposals in all categories.  

 

Would the City of Houston consider a 2-week extension to allow proposers more time to 

submit in other categories to encourage fair and open competition? 

 

 Response The City is revising the due date to November 19, 2020 

 

https://hallways.cap.gsa.gov/app/#/h
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88 Question Revised Solicitation dated 10.13.2020 – Are all Proposers required to include Legal 

Services to support the City’s Legal Department no matter what Designated Area they are 

proposing?  

 

 Response Yes. 

 

89 Question Revised Solicitation dated 10.13.2020 Items 2.14 through 2.20 – Please confirm that items 

2.14 through 2.20 apply only to the Law Firm on the Proposer’s team. 

 

 Response Proposers must submit information applicable to whomever (e.g., Proposer or its 

attorney/law firm subcontractor) its proposal indicates will provide legal services. 

 

90 Question Revised Solicitation dated 10.13.2020 – Items 2.3 and 2.3.b – Please clarify what is 

required for the Proposed plan of action, the matrix summary of the requirements and the 

scope requirements and deliverables outline. The three items appear to be requesting the 

same information presented in three different formats – a narrative, a matrix and an outline. 

Are all three required? If so, what specific information is the City looking for in each format? 

If all three are not required, please clarify what the City wants to see in these sections.  

 

 Response All three are required. 

 

91 Question Please provide a detailed scope for CBDG-DR. 

 

 Response No, the City will not be providing a detailed scope of work for CDBG-DR. CDBG DR 

funding may be utilized to support mitigation projects for COH infrastructure.  

 

92 Question Is the CBDG-DR Legacy proposal designed for strictly financial or fiscal management of the 

grants or does the City intend the proposer to assume all grant-related operations. 

 

 Response CDBG-DR Legacy activities will be defined pending available funding and may include 

fiscal and grant management support.  

 

93 Question Please clarify the intended meaning of “Submission Requirements for the Legal Department” 

on page 25. Are requirements 2.14 through 2.20 only applicable to the scope of work for the 

Legal Department defined on pages 13-14? 

 

 Response Yes. 

94 Question Would you be able to tell us how many people approximately would use/work on the system? 

 

 Response Unknown.  
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95 Question In regards to the legal services scope, is it safe to assume that legal services will have to be 

subcontracted out if a proposer does not have an in-house legal team to meet the requirements 

of the RFP? 

 

 Response The Proposer may propose to enter into a subcontractor agreement with an attorney or 

law firm to perform the legal services portion of the Scope of Work. 

 

96 Question Does the City intend for each respondent to provide multiple proposals?  

 

 Response Submission requirements are for proposers to submit one (1) proposal for each of the 

designated areas listed on Page 5 of the RFP: 

 

1.1 Future Disasters: FEMA-PA 

1.2 Future Disasters: FEMA-HMGP 

1.3 Future Disasters: CDBG-DR 

1.4 Future Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

1.5 Legacy Disasters: FEMA-PA 

1.6 Legacy Disasters: FEMA-HMGP 

1.7 Legacy Disasters: CDBG-DR 

1.8 Legacy Disasters: CDBG-MIT 

 

 

END OF LETTER OF CLARIFICATION NO. 4 
 

When issued, Letter(s) of Clarification shall automatically become a part of the solicitation documents 

and shall supersede any previous specification(s) and/or provision(s) in conflict with the Letter(s) of 

Clarification. All revisions, responses, and answers incorporated into the Letter(s) of Clarification are 

collaboratively from both the Strategic Procurement Division and the applicable City Department(s). It is 

the responsibility of the respondent to ensure that it has obtained all such letter(s). By submitting a 

proposal on this project, respondents shall be deemed to have received all Letter(s) of Clarification and to 

have incorporated them into their proposals.  

 

If you have any questions or if further clarification is needed regarding this solicitation, please contact 

Barbara Fisher at barbara.fisher@houstontx.gov or 832-393-8722. 

  

 

Sincerely, 

 
 
 
Jerry Adams 

Chief Procurement Officer 
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